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Sheikh Zayed Road, P.O. Box 3800
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Tel. +971 (4) 4030300, www.kpmg.com/ae

Independent auditors report

To the Head Office of Barclays Bank PLC — Dubai Branch

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Barclays Bank PLC — Dubai Branch (“the
Branch”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021,
the statements of profit or loss, other comprehensive income, changes in Head Office
Account and reserves, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Branch as at 31 December 2021, its financial
performance, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Branch in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Arab
Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Barclays Bank PLC — Dubai Branch
Independent Auditors’ Report
31 December 2021

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial

Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS and their preparation in compliance with the
applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as amended), and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Branch's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Branch or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Branch'’s financial
reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professionat skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Branch's internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Branch's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Branch to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

—  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,

the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Further, as required by Article {114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018 (as
amended), we report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we
considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited

Fawzi AbuRass
Registration No.: 968
Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Date: 10 MAR 2022
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Statement of financial position

As at 31 December

Note 2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000

Assets
Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank 4 1,212,533 3,287,485
Due from other banks 5 2,514,950 1,759,107
Due from Head Office and other branches 6 48,499 110,559
Loans and advances 7(a) 1,234,817 900,976

Investments measured at fair value through other

comprehensive income (FVOCI) i a0 )
Other assets 9 5,992 2,567
Property and equipment 10 6,625 9,851
Deferred tax assets 11 17,430 18,253
Total assets 6,838,338 6,088,798
Liabilities, Head Office account and reserves

Liabilities

Due to other banks 12 - 5,132
Due to customers 13 3,386,304 2,841,576
Due to Head Office and other branches 14 1,201,749 1,012,948
Other liabilities 15 41,429 49,517
Total liabilities 4,629,482 3,909,173
Head Office account and reserves

Allocated capital 16 2,540,214 2,540,214
Legal reserve 17(a) 144,842 141,956
General reserve 17(b) 30,817 19,297
Revaluation Reserve 8 (b) 373 -
Accumulated losses (507,390) (521,842)
Total Head Office account and reserves 2,208,856 2,179,625
Total liabilities, Head Office account and reserves 6,838,338 6,088,798

These financial statements have been approved on 10 March 2022 and signed by:

Ramkumar Balasubramaniam
Head of Finance

The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 1-3.
The notes from 1 to 27 form an integral part of these financial statements. @)



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Statement of profit or loss

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Net foreign exchange income
Operating income

Operating expenses
Impairment release / (charge) on financial instruments
Profit / (Loss) before taxation
Income tax (expense) / credit
Profit / (Loss) for the year

Statement of other comprehensive income

Profit / (Loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income / (loss)

Net changes in investments measured at fair value
Total comprehensive Profit / (Loss) for the year

The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 1-3.
The notes from 1 to 27 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note

20
21

22
23
3.23

24

Note

8 (b)

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
52,174 76,517
6,117) (19,902)
46,057 56,615
30,815 31,568
5,968 4,262
82,840 92,445
(76,130) (84,067)
30,316 (702,551)
37,026 (694,173)
(8,168) 3,321
28,858 (690,852)
Year ended 31 December
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
28,858 (690,852)
373 -
29,231 (690,852)

)
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 December

Note 2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000

Operating activities
Profit / (Loss) for the year before taxation 37,026 (694,173)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 10 3,226 3,262
Interest expense on finance lease 25 34 48
Write off of property and equipment 10 - 234
End of service benefits charge for the year 15(a) 179 192
E::ri;]:;):rignent (release) / charge on financial 393 (32,971) 700,990
Operating cash flows before end of service !)enefits 7494 10.553
and tax paid and changes in assets and liabilities i i
End of service benefits paid 15(a) (250) (60)
Income tax paid during the year (7,345) (25,906)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Balances with the UAE Central Bank excluding

amounts considered as cash and cash equivalents 4,26 2N e (o)
Due from other ba.nks excluding amounts considered as 5.6 (754,741) (648,934)
cash and cash equivalents
Due from Head Office and other branches excluding
amounts considered as cash and cash equivalents 6.6 IgEle ey
Loans and advances 7 (303,515) (421,830)
Other assets 9 (3,425) (1,542)
Due to other banks 12 (5,132) 5,132
Due to customers 13 544,728 329,459
Due to Head Office and other branches 14 188,801 446,480
Other liabilities 15 (3,936) 4,571)
Net cash from / (used in) operating activities 1,789,068 (586,555)
Investing activities
Purchase of investments 8 (1,797,119) -
Net cash used in investing activities (1,797,119) -
Financing activities
Payment of lease liabilities 25(iii) (459) (328)
Net cash used in financing activities (459) (328)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (8,510) (586,883)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 102,090 688,973
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 26 93,580 102,090
(7

The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 1-3.
The notes from 1 to 27 form an integral part of these financial statements.



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements

1 Establishment and operations

Barclays Bank PLC (the “Head Office”) is a public limited company incorporated in the United Kingdom and
the address of its registered office is 1 Churchill Place, London E14 5HP. The principal activity of Barclays
Bank PLC in the United Arab Emirates (“UAE”) is wholesale banking which it carried out from its Branch in
Dubai (the “Bank” or “the Branch™). The registered address of the Dubai Branch is Office No.109, Level 1,
The Offices 3, One Central, Dubai World Trade Centre, Dubai, UAE.

2 Significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Changes in accounting policies
Interest rate benchmark reform

Interbank offered rates (“IBORs”), such as the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR™), play a critical role
in global financial markets, serving as reference rates for derivatives, loans and securities, and as parameters
in the valuation of financial instruments.

Uncertainty surrounding the integrity of IBOR rates has in recent years, led regulators, central banks and
market participants to work towards a transition to alternative risk-free benchmark reference rates (“RFRs”)
and market-led working groups in respective jurisdictions have recommended alternative risk-free reference
rates, which are gradually being adopted.

The majority of market LIBOR and other IBOR rates were discontinued after 31 December 2021 and replaced
with certain Alternative Reference Rates (“ARRs”), with the exception of certain USD LIBOR rates where
cessation is delayed until 30 June 2023.

Barclays Group has established a Group-wide LIBOR Transition Programme, with oversight from the Group
Finance Director. The Transition Programme spans all business lines and has cross-functional governance
which includes Legal, Compliance, Conduct Risk, Client Engagement and Communications, Risk, and
Finance. The Transition Programme aims to drive strategic execution, and identify, manage and resolve key
risks and issues as they arise. The Transition Programme follows a risk-based approach, using recognised
‘change delivery’ control standards. Accountable Executives are in place within key working groups and
workstreams, with overall Board oversight delegated to the Board Risk Committee and the Group Finance
Director.

During 2021, the Barclays Group delivered RFR product capabilities and alternatives to LIBOR linked
financial instruments required for LIBOR cessation to support transition of significant contracts. The switch
onto the RFR however have not taken place until 31 December 2021 and so exposures as of 31 December 2021
are still reported as LIBOR. Barclays Group has also delivered technology and business process changes
required to ensure operational readiness in preparation for LIBOR cessation and transitions to RFRs for those
benchmark rates ceasing at the end of 2021.

Any incremental Technology or Business Process changes required to support USD LIBOR cessation will be
delivered ahead of 30 June 2023. For contracts indexed to an IBOR that mature after the expected cessation
of the IBOR rate the Barclays Group is working to amend contracts to include the addition of fallback clauses
or replacement of the IBOR rate with an alternative benchmark rate.

@®)



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(a) Changes in accounting policies (continued)
Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

IBOR reform exposes the Branch to various risks, which the Transition Programme team is reviewing and
monitoring to manage the changes appropriately. These risks include but are not limited to the following:

- Conduct risk arising from discussions with clients and market counterparties due to the amendments
required to existing contracts necessary to effect IBOR reform;

- Financial and Market risk to the Branch and its clients that IBOR reform disrupts markets giving rise to
financial losses;

- Pricing risk from the potential lack of market information if liquidity in IBORs reduces and RFRs are
illiquid and unobservable; and

- Accounting risk if the Branch’s hedging relationships fail and form an unrepresentative income statement
volatility as financial instruments transition to RFRs.

The Branch has not transitioned the LIBOR linked exposures to RFRs as of 31 December 2021 and the
management has plans to complete their renegotiation and related processes for transition before the end of 30
June 2023 for contracts maturing post cessation date. Following are the Branch’s significant exposures indexed
to LIBOR:

USD EURO

LIBOR LIBOR
AED’000 AED’000
Due from other banks 2,330,724 161,398
Loans and advances 1,471,458 10,703
3,802,182 172,641

The Branch’s exposures with the Head Office and other branches and the financial liabilities of the Branch are
not indexed to IBOR.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB),
interpretations issued by International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the
applicable requirements of laws of the United Arab Emirates. The financial statements are prepared under the
historical cost convention except for derivative financial instruments measured at fair value and Investments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Bank’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 2(s).

®



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Financial assets and liabilities
Recognition and initial measurement

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances, and deposits on the date on which they are originated. All
other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognised on
the trade date, which is the date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at Fair Value
through the Statement of Profit or Loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue.

Classification

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) or FVTPL. A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both
of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset gives rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:

e The asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling financial assets; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset gives rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Bank may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All other financial assets are classified as FVTPL.
In addition, on initial recognition, the Bank may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets

the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

(10)



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(¢) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Classification (continued)

Business model assessment

The Bank makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management.
The information considered includes:

» The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In
particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, realising
cash flows through the sale of the assets and holding it for liquidity purposes;

o The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed;

* how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Bank’s management;

* how managers of the business are compensated — e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value
of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected:;

e the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but
as part of an overall assessment of how the Bank’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is
achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis
are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect
contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs).

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Bank
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains
a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet
this condition. In making the assessment, the Bank considers:

 Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
e Leverage features;
e Prepayment and extension terms;

o Terms that limit the Bank’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements); and

¢ Features that modify consideration of the time value of money — e.g. petiodical reset of interest rates.

(11



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(¢)  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Classification (continued)
Reclassification

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after the Bank
changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Financial liabilities

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan commitments, as measured
at amortised cost or FVTPL.

Derecognition
Financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers
nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial
asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying
amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received
(including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in OCI is recognised in profit or loss.

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI
is not recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished — that is, when the obligation is discharged,
cancelled or expires.
(d) Impairment of financial assets

The Bank applies a three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets carried
at amortised cost and debt instruments classified as FVOCI. Assets migrate through the following three stages
based on the change in credit quality since initial recognition.

Stage 1 — the recognition of 12 month expected credit losses (ECL), that is the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses from default events that are expected within 12 months of the reporting date, if credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition;

Stage 2 — lifetime expected credit losses for financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition; and

Stage 3 — lifetime expected credit losses for financial instruments which are credit impaired.

Refer to note 3 for further details regarding the impairment requirements,

(12)



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Accounting for the impairment of financial assets

The Bank recognises expected credit losses (ECLs) based on unbiased forward-looking information for afl
financial assets at amortised cost, lease receivables, debt financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. Intercompany exposures,
including loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, are also in scope of IFRS 9 for ECL purposes.
The ECL for intercompany exposures is immaterial.

At the reporting date, an allowance (or provision for loan commitments and financial guarantees) is required
for the 12 month ECLs. If the credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition (Stage 2), or if
the financial instrument is credit impaired (Stage 3), an allowance (or provision) should be recognised for the
lifetime ECLs.

The measurement of ECL is calculated using three main components: (i) probability of default (PD) (ii) loss
given default (LGD) and (iii) the exposure at default (EAD).

The 12 month ECL is calculated by multiplying the 12 month PD, LGD and the EAD. The 12 month and
lifetime PDs represent the PD occurring over the next 12 months and the remaining maturity of the instrument
respectively.

The EAD represents the expected balance at default, taking into account the repayment of principal and interest
from the balance sheet date to the default event together with any expected drawdowns of committed facilities.
The LGD represents expected losses on the EAD given the event of default, taking into account, among other
attributes, the mitigating effect of collateral value at the time it is expected to be realised and the time value
of money.

Determining a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition:

The Bank assesses when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred based on quantitative and qualitative
assessments. The credit risk of an exposure is considered to have significantly increased when:

i) Quantitative test

The annualised lifetime PD has increased by more than an agreed threshold relative to the equivalent at
origination.

PD deterioration thresholds are defined as percentage increases, and are set at an origination score band and
segment level to ensure the test appropriately captures significant increases in credit risk at all risk levels.
Generally, thresholds are inversely correlated to the origination PD, i.e. as the origination PD increases, the
threshold value reduces.

The assessment of the point at which a PD increase is deemed ‘significant’, is based upon analysis of the

portfolios’ risk profile against a common set of principles and performance metrics (consistent across both
retail and wholesale businesses), incorporating expert credit judgement where appropriate.

(13)



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Accounting for the impairment of financial assets (continued)
i) Quantitative test (continued)

For existing/historical exposures where origination point scores/data are no longer available or do not represent
a comparable estimate of lifetime PD, a proxy origination score is defined, based upon:

e Back-population of the approved lifetime PD score either to origination date or, where this is not
feasible, as far back as possible, (subject to a data start point no later than 1 January 2015); or

e Use of available historic account performance data and other customer information, to derive a
comparable ‘proxy” estimation of origination PD.

ii) Qualitative test
Accounts meet the portfolio’s ‘high risk’ criteria and are subject to closer credit monitoring.

High risk customers may not be in arrears but either through an event or an observed behavior exhibit credit
distress. The definition and assessment of high risk includes as wide a range of information as reasonably
available, including industry and Group wide customer level data wherever possible or relevant.

Whilst the high risk populations applied for IFRS 9 impairment purposes are aligned with risk management
processes, they are also regularly reviewed and validated to ensure that they capture any incremental segments
where there'is evidence of credit deterioration.

iii) Backstop criteria

Accounts that are 30 calendar days or more past due. The 30 days past due criteria is a backstop rather than a
primary driver of moving exposures into Stage 2.

Exposures will move back to Stage 1 once they no longer meet the criteria for a significant increase in credit
risk. This means that, at minimum: all payments must be up-to-date, the PD deterioration test is no longer met,
the account is no longer classified as high risk, and the customer has evidenced an ability to maintain future
payments. The Bank monitor such financial instruments for a minimum probationary petiod of 12 months to
confirm if the risk of default has decreased sufficiently before upgrading such exposure from Stage 2 to Stage
1.

The Bank does not rely on the low credit risk exemption which would assume facilities of investment grade
are not significantly deteriorated.

Management overlays and other exceptions to model outputs are applied only if consistent with the objective
of identifying significant increases in credit risk.

Forward-looking information
The measurement of ECL involves complexity and judgement, including estimation of PDs, LGD, a range of

unbiased future economic scenarios, estimation of expected lives (where contractual life is not appropriate),
and estimation of EAD and assessing significant increases in credit risk.

(14)



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Forward-looking information (continued)

Credit losses are the expected cash shortfalls from what is contractually due over the expected life of the
financial instrument, discounted at the original effective interest rate (EIR). ECLs are the unbiased probability-
weighted credit losses determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and considering future economic
conditions. When there is a non-linear relationship between forward-looking economic scenarios and their
associated credit losses, five forward-looking economic scenarios are considered to ensure a sufficient
unbiased representative sample of the complete distribution is included in determining the expected loss. Stress
testing methodologies are leveraged within forecasting economic scenarios.

The Bank utilises an external consensus forecast as the baseline scenario. In addition, two adverse and two
favourable scenarios are derived, with associated probability weightings. The adverse scenarios are calibrated
to a similar severity to internal stress tests, whilst also incorporating IFRS 9 specific sensitivities and non-
linearity. The most adverse scenarios are benchmarked to the Bank of England’s annual cyclical scenarios and
to the most severe scenarios from Moody’s inventory, but are not designed to be the same. The favourable
scenarios are calibrated to be symmetric to the adverse scenarios, subject to a ceiling calibrated to relevant
recent favourable benchmark scenarios. The scenarios include six core variables, (GDP, unemployment and
House Price Index in both the UK & US markets), and expanded variables which include emerging market
indicators, using statistical models based on historical correlations. The Head Office considers these
macroeconomic forecasts as reasonable proxy of the economic environment of the Branch.

The probability weights of the scenarios are estimated such that the baseline (reflecting current consensus
outlook) has the highest weight and the weights of adverse and favourable scenarios depend on the deviation
from the baseline; the further from the baseline, the smaller the weight. A single set of five scenarios is used
across all portfolios and all five weights are normalised to equate to 100%. The impacts across the portfolios
are different because of the sensitivities of each of the portfolios to specific macroeconomic variables.

Definition of default, credit impaired assets, write-offs, and interest income recognition

The definition of default for the purpose of determining ECLs has been aligned to the applicable UAE
requirement of default (the institution considers that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
institution, the parent undertaking or any of its subsidiaries in full, without recourse by the institution to actions
such as realising security), which considers indicators that the debtor is unlikely to pay, includes exposures in
forbearance and is no later than when the exposure is more than 90 days past due. When exposures are
identified as credit impaired or purchased or originated as such interest income is calculated on the carrying
value net of the impairment allowance. The Bank’s definition of default is consistent with the provisions of
Central Bank of United Arab Emirates (CBUAE) Circular 28/2010 (Regulation for Classification of Loans
and their Provisions).

Credit impaired is when the exposure has defaulted which is also anticipated to align to when an exposure is
identified as individually impaired.

Uncollectible loans are written off against the related allowance for loan impairment on completion of the

Bank’s internal processes and when all reasonably expected recoverable amounts have been collected.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the income statement.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Loan modifications and renegotiations that are not credit-impaired

When modification of a loan agreement occurs as a result of commercial restructuring activity rather than due
to credit risk of the borrower, an assessment must be performed to determine whether the terms of the new
agreement are substantially different from the terms of the existing agreement. This assessment considers both
the change in cash flows arising from the modified terms as well as the change in overall instrument risk
profile. With regards to exposures that are restructured, the Bank observe a probationary period of a minimum
of 3 instalments (for repayments which are on a quarterly basis or shorter) and 12 months (in cases where
instalments are on a longer frequency than quarterly) after the restructuring, before upgrading from Stage 3 to
2. No loan modification has occurred during the reporting period.

Where terms are substantially different, the existing loan will be derecognised and new loan recognised at fair
value, with any difference in valuation recognised immediately within the income statement, subject to
observability criteria.

Where terms are not substantially different, the loan carrying value will be adjusted to reflect the present value
of modified cash flows discounted at the original EIR, with any resulting gain or loss recognised immediately
within the income statement as a modification gain or loss.

Expected life

Lifetime ECLs must be measured over the expected life. This is restricted to the maximum contractual life and
takes into account expected prepayment, extension, call and similar options. The exceptions are certain
revolver financial instruments, such as credit cards and bank overdrafts, that include both a drawn and an
undrawn component where the entity’s contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel the undrawn
commitment does not limit the entity’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period. For revolving
facilities, expected lifetime is analytically derived to reflect behavioural life of the asset, i.e. the full period
over which the business expects to be exposed to credit risk. Behavioural life is typically based upon historical
analysis of the average time to default, closure or withdrawal of facility. Where data is insufficient or analysis
inconclusive, an additional ‘maturity factor’ may be incorporated to reflect the full estimated life of the
exposures, based upon expetienced judgement and/or peer analysis. Potential future modifications of contracts
are not taken into account when determining the expected life or EAD until they occur.

Discounting

ECLs are discounted at the EIR at initial recognition or an approximation thereof and consistent with income
recognition. For loan commitments the EIR is the rate that is expected to apply when the loan is drawn down
and a financial asset is recognised. Issued financial guarantee contracts are discounted at the risk free rate.
Lease receivables are discounted at the rate implicit in the lease. For variable/floating rate financial assets, the
spot rate at the reporting date is used and projections of changes in the variable rate over the expected life are
not made to estimate future interest cash flows or for discounting.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Modelling techniques

ECLs are calculated by multiplying three main components, being the PD, LGD and the EAD, discounted at
the original EIR. The regulatory Basel Committee of Banking Supervisors (BCBS) ECL calculations are
leveraged for IFRS 9 modelling but adjusted for key differences which include:

¢ BCBS requires 12 months through the economic cycle losses whereas IFRS 9 requires 12 months or
lifetime point in time losses based on conditions at the reporting date and multiple forecasts of the
future economic conditions over the expected lives.

¢ IFRS 9 models do not include certain conservative BCBS model floors and downturn assessments and
require discounting to the reporting date at the original EIR rather than using the cost of capital to the
date of default.

* Management adjustments are made to modelled output to account for situations where known or
expected risk factors and information have not been considered in the modelling process, for example
forecast economic scenarios for uncertain political events.

e ECL is measured at the individual financial instrument level, however a collective approach where
financial instruments with similar risk characteristics are grouped together, with apportionment to
individual financial instruments, is used where effects can only be seen at a collective level, for
example for forward-looking information.

For the IFRS 9 impairment assessment, Banks’ risk models are used to determine the PD, LGD and EAD. For
Stage 2 and 3, Bank applies lifetime PDs but uses 12 month PDs for Stage 1. The ECL drivers of PD, EAD
and LGD are modelled at an account level which considers vintage, among other credit factors. Also, the
assessment of significant increase in credit risk is based on the initial lifetime PD curve, which accounts for
the different credit risk underwritten over time.

Forbearance

A financial asset is subject to forbearance when it is modified due to the credit distress of the borrower. A
modification made to the terms of an asset due to forbearance will typically be assessed as a non-substantial
modification that does not result in de-recognition of the original loan, except in circumstances where debt is
exchanged for equity.

Both performing and non-performing forbearance assets are classified as Stage 3 except where it is established
that the concession granted has not resulted in diminished financial obligation and that no other regulatory
definitions of default criteria has been triggered, in which case the asset is classified as Stage 2. The minimum
probationary period for non-performing forbearance is 12 months and for performing forbearance, 24 months.
Hence, a minimum of 36 months is required for non-performing forbearance to move out of a forborne state.

No financial instrument in forbearance can transfer back to Stage 1 until all of the Stage 2 thresholds are no
longer met and can only move out of Stage 3 when no longer credit impaired.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as approptiate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is computed on the straight line method at rates calculated to reduce the cost of assets to their
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives as follows:
Years

Leasehold improvements 10-15 years or over the period of the lease if less
than 10 years

Motor vehicles, office equipment and furniture and

fixtures (Other assets) 4-10

Right-of-use assets The period of the lease

When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount being the higher of the net selling price and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by comparing sales proceeds to the
carrying value of the asset diposal and are taken into account in determining operating income.

Assets under construction is stated at cost incurred from the date of commencement of the project to the date
on which it is commissioned. When commissioned, assets under construction is transferred to the appropriate
category of property and equipment and depreciated in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policies.

® Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in
active markets, including recent market transactions. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is
positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

(2 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(h) Due to banks, customers and Head Office & other branches

Borrowings include due to other banks, due to customers and due to Head Office and other branches.
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration
received), net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Provision for staff benefits

The end of service benefits for international staff are provided in accordance with Barclays group policy, which
is in line with the requirements of IAS 19, and are in lieu of the end of service benefits payable under UAE
Labour Law. The liability for these benefits is settled through the Head Office current account and recorded

as a charge in the income statement.

Pension contributions are made in respect of UAE national employees to the UAE General Pension and Social
Security Authority in accordance with Federal Law No. (7), 1999 for Pension and Social Security.

Provision is also made, using actuarial techniques for the end of service benefits due to the non-UAE national
employees in accordance with the UAE Labour Law for their periods of service up to the balance sheet date.

A provision is made for the estimated liability for airfares as a result of services rendered by employees up to
the balance sheet date.

g) Due from banks, Head Office and other branches

Amounts due from banks and due from Head Office and other branches are stated at amortised cost, less any'
amounts written off and provision for impairment, if any. ‘

k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

)] Foreign currency translation

@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured in Arab Emirates Dirham (“AED”) being
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Bank operates (“the functional currency”).
The financial statements are prepared in AED, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into AED at the rate ruling on the transaction date. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into AED at the rates ruling at the balance sheet
date. Any resultant gains or losses are accounted for in the income statement.

(m) Interest income and expense

Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The ‘effective
interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected

life of the financial instrument to:

— the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
— the amortised cost of the financial liability.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Interest income and expense (continued)
Effective interest rate (continued)

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-
impaired assets, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument, but not ECL. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including ECL.

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that
are an integral patt of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount

The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial

asset or financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.

The “gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for
any expected credit loss allowance.

Calculation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a
financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate or
an approximation thereof is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit
impaired) or to the amortised cost of the liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic
re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. The
effective interest rate is also revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the date amortisation of the hedge
adjustment begins.

However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate or an approximation thereof, to the amortised cost
of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts
to the gross basis.

For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income
does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves. For information on when financial
assets are credit-impaired, refer note 2(d).

Presentation

Interest income calculated using the effective interest method presented in the statement of profit
or loss and Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) includes interest on debt instruments measured at FVOCI.

Interest expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and OCI includes financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(n) Fee and commission income

Fee and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or
financial liability are included in the effective interest rate.

Other fee and commission income — including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales
commission, placement fees and syndication fees — is recognised as the related services are performed. If a
loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment fee
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.

A contract with a customer that results in a recognised financial instrument in the Bank’s financial statements
may be partially in the scope of IFRS 9 and partially in the scope of IFRS 15. If this is the case, then the Bank
first applies IFRS 9 to separate and measure the part of the contract that is in the scope of IFRS 9 and then
applies IFRS 15 to the residual.

Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the
services are received.

(o) Lease

At inception of a contract, the Bank assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Bank uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Bank allocates
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price.

The Bank recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove any improvements made to branches or office premises.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date
to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if
any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Bank uses its incremental borrowing rate
as the discount rate.

The Bank determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external sources
and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Lease (continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

e fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

« amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
the exercise price under a purchase option that the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments
in an optional renewal period if the Bank is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and
penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Bank is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is
remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there
is a change in the Bank’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if
the Bank changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if
there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

The Bank presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment” and lease liabilities in ‘Other liabilities’ in
the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets

The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases, including leases of IT equipment. The Bank recognises the lease payments associated with
these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Bank does not have any lease arrangements in which it acts as a lessor.

P Taxation

Provision for taxation is made in respect of the Bank’s operations in the Emirate of Dubai whereby tax is
payable at the rate of 20% of the adjusted net profit generated during the year.

Income tax is recognised as an expense (income) for the period except to the extent that current tax related to
items that are charged or credited in other comprehensive income or directly to equity. In these circumstances,
current tax is charged or credit to other comprehensive income or to equity (for example, current tax on
available-for-sale investment).

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the date of the
balance sheet and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(C)] Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, balances in

current and call accounts and placements with the UAE Central Bank and with other financial institutions with

original maturity of less than or equal to three months, excluding statutory deposits required to be maintained

with the UAE Central Bank.

(r) Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

(i) Relevant new and revised IFRS applied with no material effect on the consolidated financial

statements

The following new and revised IFRS have been adopted in the Group consolidated financial statements. The
application of these new and revised IFRS has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the

current and prior periods.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS
16 relating to phase 2 of interest rate benchmark reforms

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or
after

1 January 2021

Other than the above, there are no other significant IFRSs and amendments that were effective for the first

time for the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

(ii) Relevant new and revised IFRS issued but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRS, amendments and interpretations that have

been issued but not yet effective:

a. Amendments to IAS 16 property, plant and equipment
relating to proceeds before intended use

b. Amendment to IAS 37 provisions, contingent liabilities
and contingent assets relating to onerous contracts

c.  Amendments to IFRS 3 business combinations relating
to reference to conceptual framework

d. Annual improvements to IFRS standards 2018 - 2020

e. Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting
estimates and errors

f.  Amendments to IAS 1 presentation of financial statements relating
to classification of liabilities as current or non-current

g.  Amendment to IFRS 17 Insurance contracts

Effective for
annual periods
beginning on or
after

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022
1 January 2022

1 January 2023

1 January 2023
1 January 2023
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Application of New and Revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
(continued)

Management anticipates that these IFRS and amendments will be adopted in the consolidated financial
statements in the initial period when they become mandatorily effective. The impact of these standards and
amendments are currently being assessed by the management.

(s) Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Impairment charge on financial assets
Impairment losses are evaluated as described in accounting policy 2 (d).

The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values
when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates
are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

3 Financial risk management
3.1 Risk management review

The Bank’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis,
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to
the financial business. The Bank’s aim is therefore to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return
and minimise potential adverse effects on the Bank’s financial performance.

The main sources of financial risk that the Bank faces arise from financial instruments, which are fundamental
to the Bank’s business, and constitute the core of its operations. Financial instruments create, modify or reduce
the liquidity, credit and market risks of the Bank’s balance sheet. Consequently, the Bank devotes considerable
resources to maintaining effective controls to manage, measure and mitigate each of these risks and regularly
reviews its risk management procedures and systems to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of the
business.

Managing financial risks, especially credit risk is a fundamental part of the Bank’s business activity and an
essential component of the planning process. The Bank achieves its risk management goals by keeping risk
management at the centre of the executive agenda and by building a culture that measures risk management
with everyday business decision making.

The Bank ensures that it has the capacity to manage the risk in its established businesses as well as new and

growing ones, and that its business plans are consistent with the risk appetite, that is, the level of risk that the
Bank is willing to accept in fulfilling its business objectives.

24)



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.1 Risk management review (continued)

Bank’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse risks, to set appropriate risk limits and
controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits. These policies provide written principles for overall
risk management, as well as specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of
derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments. In addition, internal audit is
responsible for the independent review of risk management and the control environment.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk includes currency
risk, interest rate and price risk.

3.1.1  Risks relating to the impact of COVID - 19

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation ("WHO") officially declared COVID-19 a global
pandemic. In light of the rapid spread of COVID-19 across the globe, various economies and sectors have
faced significant disruptions and uncertainty as a result of measures taken by governments to contain or delay
the spread of the virus.

The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and continues to have, a material impact on businesses around the world
and the economic environments in which they operate. There are a number of factors associated with the
pandemic and its impact on global economies that could have a material adverse effect on (among other things)
the profitability, capital and liquidity of financial institutions such as Barclays Bank PLC — Dubai Branch.

It remains unclear how the COVID-19 pandemic will evolve through 2023 (including whether there will be
further waves of the COVID-19 pandemic, whether COVID-19 vaccines approved for use by regulatory
authorities will be deployed successfully with desired results, whether further new strains of COVID-19 will
emerge and whether, and in what manner, additional restrictions will be imposed and/r existing restrictions
extended) and the Bank continues to monitor the situation closely. However, despite the COVID-19
contingency plans established by the Bank, the ability to conduct business may be affected by disruptions to
infrastructure, business processes and technology services, resulting from the unavailability of staff due to
illness or the failure of third parties to supply services. This may cause significant customer detriment, costs
to reimburse losses incurred by the Bank’s customers, potential litigation costs (including regulatory fines,
penalties and other sanctions), and reputational damage.

Under circular CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/2019, Central Bank of UAE introduced Targeted Economic Support
Scheme (“TESS”), effective from 15th March 2020. Accordingly, the Banks and finance companies were
directed to offer payment deferral relief and extend maturities by the period of the relief to their respective
borrowers who have been significantly affected by COVID-19.

None of the borrowers of the Bank requested for any relief under TESS scheme of the Central Bank of UAE
to date.

3.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk that the Bank’s customers, clients or counterparties or other financial
instruments fail to perform, are unwilling to pay interest, repay the principal or otherwise to fulfil their

contractual obligations under loan agreements or other credit facilities, thus causing the Bank to suffer a
financial loss.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (continued)

Credit risk also arises through the downgrading of counterparties, whose credit instruments are held by the
Bank, thereby resulting in the value of the assets to fall. As credit risk is the Bank’s most important risk,
considerable resources, expertise and controls are devoted to managing this risk within the core departments
of the Bank.

The Bank takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that counterparty will cause a financial loss to the
Bank by failing to discharge an obligation. Significant changes in the economy, or in the health of a particular
industry segment that represents a concentration in the Bank’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different
from those provided for at the balance sheet date. Management, therefore, carefully manages its exposure to
credit risk. Credit exposures arise principally in loans and advances and other receivables. There is also credit
risk in off-balance sheet financial arrangements such as credit commitments. The FVOCI investments are —not
exposed to credit risk as they are soverign instruments.

3.2.1 Credit risk management

The granting of credit is one of the Bank’s major sources of income and is therefore one of its most significant
risks, and the Bank dedicates considerable resources to control it effectively.

The Credit Risk function provides direction on credit risk-taking. These functional teams manage the resolution
of all significant credit policy issues, approve credit decisions which fall within its delegated authority, engages
with Head Office where appropriate and maintains governance and oversight on all credit risk related matters.

Each business segment has an embedded credit risk management team that assists in the formulation of the
risk policy and its implementation across the respective businesses. Examples include ensuring that:

- Maximum exposure guidelines are in place relating to the exposures to any individual customer or
counterparty;
- Policies are in place that limit lending to certain industrial sectors.

Those corporate accounts which are deemed to contain heightened levels of risk are recorded on graded
problem loan lists known as “early warning lists”. These are updated monthly and circulated to the relevant
risk control points. Once listing has taken place, exposure is very carefully monitored and, where possible,
exposure reductions are effected.

These lists are graded in line with the perceived severity of the risk attached to the lending. Businesses with
exposure to corporate customers having increasing concern relate to one of the three categories (EWL1, EWL2
and EWL3). By the time an account becomes impaired it will normally, but not necessarily, have passed
through all three categories, which reflect the need for ever-increasing caution and control.

Where an obligor’s financial health gives grounds for concern, it is immediately placed into the appropriate
category. All obligors are subject to a full review of all facilities on, at least, an annual basis. Interim reviews
and quartetly reviews may be undertaken if circumstances dictate.

Within the retail portfolios, which tend to comprise homogeneous assets, statistical techniques more readily
allow impairment to be monitored on a portfolio basis. Consistent with the Head Office’s policy, an impairment
allowance is raised as soon as an objective evidence of impairment is identified as a result of one or more loss
events that have occurred after initial recognition. The retail exposure is nil for the reporting period.
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (continued)
3.2.1 Credit risk management (continued)

Where models are used, they are based upon customer’s personal and financial performance and industry
norms over recent periods as a predictor for future performance. The models are reviewed regularly to monitor
their robustness relative to actual performance and amended as necessary to optimise their effectiveness.

The Bank has implemented an internal rating framework known as Default Grade (DG). DG is a standard
internal rating framework used across Barclays Group and is compliant with Basel-Il AIRB requirements. In
accordance with the framework customers are graded across 21 rating grades with each grade having a
specified probability of default (PD) which can be mapped to equivalent of Moody’s & S&P rating grade (for
classified and write-offs it has additional grades beyond 21). Given that the rating methodology is an advanced
methodology and grades are driven from a sophisticated model, there is no static mapping between internal
grades to that of Moody’s and S&P. However, as a proxy, the following table identifies the mapping of internal
DGs with that of Moody’s and S&P:

Wholesale lendin, Credit Quali

DuCade Probability ofdefaui‘; Descgiptio?;
1-3 0.0-0.05%

4-5 0.05-0.15% Strong
6-8 0.15-0.30%

9-11 0.30-0.60%

12-14 0.60-2.15% Satisfactory
15-19 2.15-11.35%

20-21 11.35% to <100% Higher Risk
22 100% Credit Impaired

The Bank uses the external ratings where available to benchmark their internal credit risk assessment.
Observed defaults per rating category vary year on year, especially over an economic cycle.

3.2.2  Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Bank uses a wide variety of techniques to reduce credit risk on its lending. The most fundamental of these
is performing an assessment of the ability of a borrower to service the proposed level of borrowing without
distress. It is the Bank’s policy to establish that loans are within the customer’s capacity to repay, rather than
to rely excessively on security and as a result, depending on the customer’s standing and the type of product,
facilities may be unsecured. -

The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified in particular,
to individual counterparties and groups, and to industries and countries.

The credit risk is primarily managed by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one

borrower or groups of borrowers and to geographical and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a
revolving basis and are subject to an annual or more frequent review.
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (continued)
3.2.2 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (continued)

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and principal repayment obligations and by changing the lending limits where
appropriate. Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.

(a) Collateral

When collateral is deemed appropriate, businesses are required to take specific, agreed classes of collateral
and ensure that they are holding a correctly perfected charge. The principal collateral types are as follows:

- Personal sector - mortgages over residential properties;

- Commercial and industrial sector - charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and
recoverables;

- Commercial real estate sector - charges over the properties being financed.

Valuation of the collateral taken will be within agreed parameters and will be conservative in value. Within
the corporate sectors, collateral for impaired loans including guarantees and insurance is reviewed regularly
and at least annually, to ensure that it is still enforceable and that the impairment allowance remains
appropriate given the current valuation. Where the collateral has decreased in value, an additional
impairment allowance may be considered. Conversely, increases in collateral may result in a release of the
impairment allowance.

(b) Derivatives

At any one time, the amount subject to credit risk is limited to the current fair value of instruments that are
favourable to the Bank. In the case of forward exchange contracts the Bank is exposed to the notional
amount should the counterparty fail to honor the contract. This credit risk exposure is managed as part of
the overall lending limits with customers, together with potential exposures from market movements and
entering into forward contracts with other banks, in the form of back to back contracts, commitment to
purchase and sell a contract, resulting in limited credit exposure to the Bank.
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(62)

91£°0€ E 9£6°8T = #00°) < ¥8€°9 - 1834 3y J0J (38.18Y) / 3SBIJ21 JUI WRIEIS 2MOIU]
(v6) - - - - . (¥6) - sjuduysnipe IsYjo pue 5UBYIXY
- - e - - - - - $]J0-3111M 150d SILISA093I JON
: = g = ‘ a ¢ = JJo-a)um pue
01y0¢ 96 8T (#00°¢) 8LY9 s[esodsip 03 anp pasiuS0aIap §19sSE SUIPN[IXS JUSWIAOW )T
) ) ) N . ) porad ay) a0y aseajaa/(a8aeyd)
} i judmared wi 03 JUIWIAOW T JO UOPBI[IIUOIAY

(8LL°89P) 1PT'8ST L (Loz'Lsy) 89€°8FS (sees) LEG'SY (9€7°9) 9€6°€H9‘9 1207 42qWad3( € JE SE DUBAMO]JE S50']
vTSLOE (rzsL0g) vTSLOE (rTsL0E) - - 2 s §3JO-3)L1A 0} INP P3SIUZO0IAP JASSY
13 4 <. 4 1 1 1 € 3 €. WH.—HQEO>OE
0zL0€ (009°£81°7) 9€6'3C (555°60) (#00°6) §95°91 88L°9 (019%L1°7) 19410 pue soSueyd 13j9urered YSU /SHUOWARA1/SUMOPMEIP JON
(01¢) €21°506°C - = - = (01¢) €21°S06°C Paseyoind 10 P3JeUISLIO SIOSSE [EIOURLL MAN
- - - - - - = - o8e)s J0 Joysuey woy Sulste THH JO JUSWAINSEIW-3 JON

Jo 1y 1 Just J
- - - - - - - - ¢ 98mg 03 s19JsueI]
z ; - - - - - - ¢ 38e1§ 03 sIaJsuel]
- - - - - - - - [ 28e1§ 03 sIgJsueI]
(T12°908) ThT'818°9 (L99°€6L) L¥v'$88 (1€€) TLE6F (r12°T1) ETY'EL6'S 1707 Atenuef | je se adue[eg
000.4AV 000.4AV 000.4AV 000.aav 000.AV 000,43V 000.4dV 000,43V
AdUEBMO||B aansodxy ARUEeMO||E aansodx g Jduemo|e aansodxy dueMo||e dansodxy
Sy | $S0] $S0 $S0
[ejoL £ A9 TADVIS 1 ADVIS

"$SO[ 11paIo pajoadxe pue ansodxa sy3 jo souereq Furso]o aiy o1 Suruado 2y Jo UONERINIOU0AI € sjuasaid 3[qe) SuIMO[[O SN

SSO[ JIPaJd pa3dddxa pue dansodxa sS0IS ur JUSUIIAON

$S07] JIpaL)) padadxy woay Suisue syjunowy  ¢'7¢

(panunuod) ysuppas)y ¢

(ponunuod) juswddeuru YSLI [BIdURUL]

€

(pPanunuoo) s)udwIA)E)S [BIDURUI IY) 0} SAPON

Joueag reqnq - D14 Yueyq sAepieg



(0¢)

(1ss‘z0L) = (L9¥'€69) - (1£€) - (€5L°]) = 4824 3y 10§ (9318YD) / ISEI[L JUIUISIE)S JWOdU]
LY¥6 - LY6 - - - - = SJJ0-2)1iM 150d SALIOA00I JAN
: " N g ) Jjo-o11m pue
(86v°¢0L) . (#1+°069) ) (1€9) (€51°8) s[esodsip 0} anp pasiugooaIap s1asse JuIPN[OXd JUSWIAOW TIH
} ) } ) poL1ad ay) 10] 3sEIAL/(3BaBYI)
) ) ) ) yuawaiedwn 03 JudwIAOW )T JO UOHBI[IIU0IFY
(Z1L°908) PT8H8°9 (L99'c6L) LPH'S88 (1ge) ILE6F (prL'zn £TH'EL6'S 0707 13qW3dd( € I8 SB JUBMO[[E §507]
00T°T1 (00z'z1) 00T°Tt (00z'el) E 2 > - §3J0-3)L1A 0] NP P3SIUTO0IIIP S5
. . . . . . ) sjuswIAOW
9r1°L) (100°2S0) €98°1 PIEE (62) 86£°YE (086°8) (91L°660) Toyto pue saBuwyo 1ojowered ysiL /SusUIARdal/SUMOPAEIP 19N
(v1t) SLELTOT E - £ - (r1¥) SLELTOT paseyoand 10 pajeui3LI0 S)ISSE [BIOUBUI] MIN
(8£6°669) - ($59°669) - #82) - - - a8e)s Jo 1aysuen) woiy Suisue 7D JO JUSWIINSBIW-I N
(€29) 0LL'PLL (€29) OLL'VLL x s - - € 28e)g 0) SIOJSURI],
81 pLE'Y] E ) (81) yL6'YT = -  28e1§ 0} sIojsuel]
%9 (bPL°68L) = s s = 179 (¥FL'68L) | 93e1g 0 sIoJsuel]
(P1p'SIT) 1L0°S60°9 (€SH'ITD) £95°601 - £ (196°¢) 805°586°S 0TOT Alenuef | Je Se soueeg
000,43V 000.aAV 000.4AV 000.GAV 000.aAV 000,43V 000.4AV 000,44V
duemo||e aunsodxyg Jduemofe aansodxq duemo[[e aansodxyq Ruemo|e aansodxyg
$S0] $S0 s | Ny |
[L20XN £ ADVIS T ADVILS 1 ADVLS

(panunuod) ssof JIpatd pajdadxa pue Insodxad $S0.IZ Ul JUIWIAOTA[

(ponunuod) ssory Jpal1) pajdadxy wodj suisuie sjunomy  €°7°€

(ponunuod) ysL NPAI) '€

(ponuyuod) judwdSeurvur HSLI [eIoUeUl ]

€

(panunuod) s)udWI}E}S [RIDUBUL ) 0) SANON

gourag reqng - D'1d Yueq sAepaeg



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

3.2.3 Amounts arising from Expected Credit Loss (continued)
Movement in gross exposure and expected credit loss (continued)

Contingencies and commitments

Balance as at 1 January 2021

Movement in letters of credit, guarantees &
acceptances and undrawn commitments
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2021*

Balance as at 1 January 2020

Movement in letters of credit, guarantees &
acceptances and undrawn commitments
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2020*

*ECL on off balance sheet exposures is booked under Other Liabilities (note 15).

Loss allowance

AED’000
9,309

(3,656)

5,653

11,817
(2,508)

9,309

3.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements

The following table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2021
and 2020 without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on and off
balance sheet assets, the exposures set out below are based on gross amounts as reported in the balance sheet.

Maximum exposure

2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
On balance sheet:
Cash.and balances with the UAE Central Bank (excluding 1,193,705 3,270,927
cash in hand) (note 4)
Due from other banks (note 5) 2,516,611 1,759,710
Due from Head Office and other branches (note 6) 48,501 110,569
Loans and advances:
- Loans to individual customers (note 7(a)) - 6,077
- Loans to corporate customers (note 7(a)) 1,701,932 1,700,959
Investments measured at fair value through other 1797492 i
comprehensive income (FVOCI) (note 8) o
Other assets (note 9) 3,312 2,221
Off balance sheet:
Letters of credit (note 18) 688,843 1,284,558
Guarantees and acceptances (note 18) 1,277,400 1,326,484
Undrawn credit commitments (note 18) 2,868,155 2,581,250
At 31 December 12,095,951 12,042,755
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (continued)

3.2.4 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
(continued)

Management does not consider exposure on due from Head Office and other branches will result in any
potential loss.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and minimise the loss arising from its exposure
to credit risk resulting from its loans and advances portfolio and amounts due from banks based on the

following:

- 41% (2020: 24%) of the loans and advances to corporate customers is categorised in the top grades of
the Bank’s internal grading system.

- Mortgage loans which represent 0% (2020: 100%) of the retail loans are backed by collateral.

- The Bank continuously reviews its credit policy and changes are made based on the management
information system reports and the patterns that emerge from these reports.
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

3.2.5 Financial instruments at amortised cost by product

The table below presents a breakdown of financial instruments at amortised cost and the impairment
allowance with stage allocation by asset classification.

As at 31 December 2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross exposure AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank 1.193.705 N )
(excluding cash in hand) G 1,193,705
Due from other banks 2,516,611 - - 2,516,611
Due from Head Office and other branches 48,501 - - 48,501
Investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) L2 i i LRnA2
Corporate loans 1,087,627 65,937 548,368 1,701,932
Total 6,643,936 65,937 548,368 7,258,241
Expected Credit Loss
Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank
(excluding cash in hand) ) ) ) )
Due from other banks (1,661) - - (1,661)
Due from Head Office and other branches ) - - 2)
Investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) ) ) ) )
Corporate loans (4,573) (5.335) (457,207) (467,115)
Total (6,236) (5,335) (457,207) (468,778)
Net exposure
Cash an'd balancses with the UAE Central Bank 1,193,705 } N 1,193,705
(excluding cash in hand)
Due from other banks 2,514,950 - - 2,514,950
Due from Head Office and other branches 48,499 - - 48,499
Investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 182 ) ) P
Corporate loans 1,083,054 60,602 91.161 1,234,817
Total 6,637,700 60,602 91,161 6,789,463
Coverage ratio
Cash an_d balaanas with the UAE Central Bank 0.00% ) ) 0.00%
(excluding cash in hand)
Due from other banks 0.07% - - 0.07%
Due from Head Office and other branches - - - -
Investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) ) i i )
Corporate loans 0.42% 8.09% 83.38% 27.45%
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

3.2.5 Financial instruments at amortised cost by product (continued)

As at 31 December 2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross exposure AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Cash and balances with the UAE
Central Bank (excluding cash in hand) 3,270,927 i i 3,270,527
Due from other banks 1,723,224 36,486 - 1,759,710
Due from Head Office and other 110,569 ) ) 110,569
branches
Mortgages - - 6,077 6,077
Corporate loans 809,191 12,898 878,870 1,700,959
Total 5,913,911 49,384 884,947 6,848,242
Expected Credit Loss
Cash and balances with the UAE
Central Bank (excluding cash in hand) (39 i ) (39)
Due from other banks (574) 29) - (603)
Due from Head Office and other
branches (10) ) ) ()
Mortgages - - (6,077) (6,077)
Corporate loans (12,093) (303) (787,587) (799.983)
Total (12,716) (332) (793,664) (806,712)
Net exposure
Cash and balances with the UAE
Central Bank (excluding cash in hand) 20588 ) ) 2200550
Due from other banks 1,722,650 36,457 - 1,759,107
Due from Head Office and other 110,559 . i 110,559
branches
Mortgages - - - -
Corporate loans 797,098 12,595 91,283 900,976
Total 5,901,195 49,052 91,283 6,041,530
Coverage ratio
Cash and balances with the UAE o 0
Central Bank (excluding cash in hand) D00 ) ) LU
Due from other banks 0.03% 0.08% - 0.03%
Due from Head Office and other 0.01% _ N 0.01%
branches
Mortgages - - 100.00% 100.00%
Corporate loans 1.49% 2.35% 89.61% 47.03%
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (continued)

3.2.6 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure (continued)

The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their gross carrying amounts, as
categorised by geographical regions as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

For this table, the Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its
counterparties:

UAE OECD Asia Others Total
31 December 2021 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Cash and balances with
the UAE Central Bank 1,193,705 = & : 1,193,705
(excluding cash in hand)
Due from other banks 106,370 20,237 2,388,998 1,006 2,516,611
Due from Head Office 18.166
and other branches i 30,327 8 - 48,501

Loans and advances

- Corporate loans 1,187,612 382,842 131,478 - 1,701,932
- Retail loans - - - - -
Investments measured at

fair value through other

comprehensive income 1,797,492 - - - 1,797,492
(FVOCI)

Other assets 3,312 - - - 3,312
Total 4,306,657 433,406 2,520,484 1,006 7,261,553

31 December 2020

Cash and balances with

the UAE Central Bank

(excluding cash in hand) 3,270,927 - - - 3,270,927
Due from other banks 170,866 51,719 1,535,773 1,352 1,759,710
Due from Head Office

and other branches 40,781 69,779 9 - 110,569
Loans and advances

- Corporate loans 1,325,037 150,326 225,596 - 1,700,959
- Retail loans 6,077 - - - 6,077
Other assets 2,221 - - - 2,221
Total 4,815,909 271,824 1,761,378 1,352 6,850,463

(37



(8¢)

6€9°760°T1 86€'HE8‘Y IYT'8STL T6V°L6L L SOL‘C61°L TIT'S9S'T T€6'10L'T
L6STIE - L6S11E = - = L6STIE
£60°10S°1 TOETLS 10,629 - = ® 10L°629
$98°GT8°L 955°69C°C 60£°965°S TOVLOL ] SOL‘E6T°T TI1°698T o
919°LIS S96vEl 169°78¢ F = - 159°28¢
988°TLT’1 9S6°EY0°1 0€6°87C - - - 0€6°87T
TrLo¢ 5 TrLiog - - - TYL0E
LLO‘TYT 990°€CI1 110°811 - - - 110811
€91 16€ E9V°16€ - - - : <
000.dAV 000.4aV 000.AV 000.4av 000.dav 0004V 000.daV
1oL SWIAYI 333YsS papunj [ejo . (IDO0AL]) 2wmodul (puey ur ysed  sayduelIq S3UEBApE
Jdue[eq JO aarsuayardwod Suipnjax?) Iayjo pue pue sueor|

J3Y}0 YSnoay) anjeA Nueq [BLUID) DY O PeIH

Jigj je painsedw AV 29} ‘syyueq wo.j

SJUAW)SIAU] Y)IM SPIUB[EQ  INP SJUROWY

pue yse)

SWId)I J33YsS duUe[eq U

saansodxa [g)0 L
Sunjueq

IaWnsuod pue [1e1oy
JUSUILISAOLD)
SOOIAIRS

SUOLNIIISUL [BIOUBUIL]
UOIEIIUNTITIOD

29 93e10)s “‘podsuer],
opeil

UONONIISUOD)
Suumiorynue
uikirenb

29 Suruiw ‘sed ‘1o apni)
120T 13qudd( [€

*0Z07 JqQUI( [ € PUe [Z0T 19quiads(] | € e se Ansnpul £q pasLIoZaled Suid)l 19ays adue[eq JJO pue yueq
[BIJUS) V() I SIOUR[EQ PUE SO ‘SHYOURIQ Y0 PUB 39PJO PESH ‘SUEQ WO 9N ‘SIOUBAPE PUR SUBO| UO SAINSOAX3 HPAId s jueq Sy} UMOP $ealq 3[qel 3ulmo[[o] ayL

Ansnpur £q YSLI JIPIID JO WO RIIUIIUO))

(panun)uod) 31nsodxd YSIA JIPAII YIIM S)ISSE [BIOUBULJ JO SHSLI JO UONJBIUDUO)  9'T°¢C

(panuryuod) }SLI JIPaI) e

(ponunuod) juswddeurwul HSLI [BIoURUL] ¢

(ponunuod) syudwd)e}s [ROULUL IY) 0) SAJON

Jouelq teqn( - DId queq sfepaeg



(6€)

pES'0¥0°TT T6T'T6I'S W8S = LT6OLT'E 6LT0LS'T 9€0°LOLT
LLO9 * LLO9 = = = LLO9
091°16Z°1 €01°PIE LSO°LL6 - - - LSOLLE
999°809°L 09¥°L9Y°C 90T 1¥1°s » LT6°0LT'E 6LZ°0L81 -
0ET°TLE PESOVI 965522 - . - SOSESIEC
STH'809°1 €00°EH11 (4R % = = - 44434
LTO1E = LTOTE - - - LTO1E
€06°vSH SO0S“vSY 86¢ = = - 86¢
971899 L89°999 6St°1 = = - 6SH'1
0oo.alv 000.adyv 000.dav 000.dAVv 000.d1Vv 000.aav 000.daV
[ejo, SWA)I J33Ys papunj [ej0 I, (IDOAY) dwodul (puey u1 gses SayoueIq 13Y)0 sadueApeE
dueleq JO AISuId mod Surpnpax?) pue DO PeIY pue sueo|

I31)0 Y3noay) snjea yueq [eLUI) ‘SH{ueq woiy

A1E] JB paInseaun AV 2P anp sjunowy

SJIUIWPSIAU] )M SIdUE[RQ

pue yse)

SWId)1 J23Ys dueEq UQ

saansodx? [e}0],
Suryueq

Jowmsuos pue [rejey
SIOIAIOG

SUOLIMJIISUL [RIOURUI]
UOLROIUNWIIOD

29 938e103s “podsuel]
apeiL

uonoONINSU0))
Suumyorynuey
Surduenb

2 Suturur “sed ‘1o opni)
070T 12quIdNRQ 1¢

(ponunuod) Axysnpui £q YSLI JIPAII JO UCHBIIUIDIUO))

(panunuod) aansodxa YSLI }IPIId Y)IM S)ISSE [BIJUBUIY JO SHSIL JO UOHIRIIUNUO)  9°7'€

(Ponupuod) ysH Npa1) ¢

(PonuNuO0d) JUIWIT LU R YHSLI [BIIUBULY €

(ponunuoo) syudwIdye)s [RIDURUL IY) 0} SAJON

youeag reqn - D'1d yueq sAepaeg



(o)

6T°T61°S ThT'8P8°9 = LT6°0LT'E 6LT0LST 9€0°LOL’Y saansodxa [ejo,
897°6 - - - - - sIeak 9Al 1AQ
€LY'808 9€L°L96 = = - 9€L°L96 s1eak aAl 0} UQ
L99°980°¢ 968769V - 0£T°100°€ €6T°601°1 €LEVST 129K | 0} syjuOW ¢
¥88°L8T°1 019°681°1 - L69°69C 986 09V LT6YSY Syjuow ¢ Uetf} SSa7]
020T 13quada(Qq 1€
86€VES'Y 1$T'8ST'L T6¥°L6L'Y SOL'€61'Y TIT'S9S°T TE€6'TOL'T saansodxa [ejo .
] - SIBOA 9AY] IOAQ
S68°11¢C - - = c
) o - S sieak A1} 01 SUQ
808°S6L €006v1'1 - = €00 6vI1
0vS'1L6T T18°00¢'T €E9°LYY = 601°C0L" 0L0°1ST Teak | 03 sypuoul ¢
SS1°668 9TY‘80L E 658°61E’1 SoL‘E61°T €00°€98 658°10¢ Syuow ¢ ey sS97Y
170T 1PquR( 1€
000.AaV 000.daVv 000.aaVv 000.daV 000.a3V 000.dAV
papunjun papunj [ejo ], (IDOAJ) dwodul (puey ul ysed SuIpnpxs  SsIYduRIq S3JUBApE
[e10L JAIsudyd.Id wod 13y30 yueq [eLUID) V(] U) 13Y)0 pue pue sueory
y3noly} anjea Irej je )M S3dUE[eq PUE §se)  dUYJO PLIH
PO.INSBIW SYUIWISIAU] ‘syjueq woijy

anp syunomwy

SwId)] 193Ys ddue[eq UQ
Ajanjew [EnoeI3u0d £q YSLI JIPIII JO UOIIBIIUIIUO))

*0707 19qUdd3(] 1§ PUB [ZOZ J2qUIA0S(T | € Je St Ajumew Aq pasLIogaed swiajl J93ys soue[eq Jjo pue jueq

[EIUS) V(] YIM SIOUB[EQ PUB USBI ‘SAYIURIQ JAYI0 PUB 3015 PEOH ‘SUEq WO 9Np ‘SIOUBAPE PUE SUBO| UO SAINSOdXa JIPald s Jueg oY) UMOp sealq 3[qe) ulmo[[o] oy

(panupuod) 3ansodxa HSLI JIPILD YIIM S)ISSE [EIOUBUL JO SYSII JO UONBIHUNDUOD)  9°T'€

(panunuod) ysu NIy €
(panunuod) yusurseuew JSit [eTeUL] <

(panunuod) SHUIMI}E)S [BIIUBUL IY) 0) SIJON

goueag reqn( - D'1d Yueq sdepieg



Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.3 Market risk

The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open
positions in interest rate and currency, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements
and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads and
foreign exchange rates. The Bank has a limited exposure over market risk, except interest rate risk which
is explained in note 3.5.

The Assets Liability Forum (ALFO) is responsible to formalise the Bank’s key financial indicators and
ratios, set the thresholds to manage and monitor the market risk and also analyse the sensitivity of the
Bank’s interest rate and maturity mismatches. ALFO also guides the Bank’s investment decisions and
provides guidance in terms of interest rate and currency movements.

3.3.1 Market risk measurement techniques

The stress test technique provides an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme
conditions. The stress tests carried out by the Bank’s treasury include: risk factor stress testing, where stress
movements are applied to each risk category; emerging market stress testing, where emerging market
portfolios are subject to stress movements; and ad hoc stress testing, which includes applying possible stress
events to specific positions or regions — for example, the stress outcome to a region following a currency
peg break. The results of the stress tests are reviewed by senior management.

3.4 Foreign exchange risk
The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates
on its financial position and cash flows. The Head Office sets limits on the level of exposure by currency

and in aggregate for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. The table below
summarises the Bank’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.5 Interest rate risk (continued)

The table below summarises the average interest rate on the outstanding interest bearing balances by major
currencies for monetary financial instruments:

AED USD EUR
% % %

31 December 2021
Assets
Deposits with Central Bank 0.15 - -
Bills discounted 1.50 1.50 1.40
Due from Head Office and other branches 3.00 3.00 -
Loans and advances 4.60 3.00 2.00
Liabilities
Due to Head Office and other branches - 0.20 -
Due to customers 0.07 0.27 -
31 December 2020
Assets
Deposits with Central Bank 0.14 - -
Bills discounted 1.92 1.35 0.71
Due from Head Office and other branches 3.14 2.84 2.50
Loans and advances 4.33 2.75 -
Liabilities
Due to Head Office and other branches - 0.50 -
Due to customers 0.07 0.45 -

Interest rate risk is also assessed by measuring the impact of reasonable possible change in interest rate
movements. The Bank assumes a fluctuation in interest rates of 25 basis points (bps) as being reasonable
and estimates the following impact on the interest income and interest expense for the year:

Interest Interest
income expense
AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2021
Fluctuation in yield by 25 bps 5,585 3,831
31 December 2020
Fluctuation in yield by 25 bps 6,240 3,879

The above sensitivity is calculated based on Interest Rate sensitivity per basis point metric and assumes
instantaneous parallel change to forward interest rate curves. The model does not apply floors to shocked
market rates and does not recognizes the interest rate floors where relevant and balances are adjusted for
assumed behavioral profiles (e.g. Structural Interest rate hedges balances). It does not incorporate actions
that could be taken by management to mitigate the effect of interest rate movements.
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.6 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The consequence may be the
failure to meet obligations to repay depositors and fulfil commitments to lend.

The Bank manages its liquidity in accordance with Central Bank of the U.A.E. requirements and the Bank’s
internal guidelines mandated by ALFO. The Central Bank of the U.A.E. has reserve requirements on
deposits ranging between 1% and 7% on demand and time deposits. The Central Bank of the U.A.E. also
imposes mandatory 1:1 advances to deposit ratio whereby loans and advances (combined with inter-bank
placements having a remaining term of greater than three months) should not exceed stable funds as defined
by the Central Bank of the U.A.E. ALFO monitors liquidity ratios on a regular basis and for covering the
risk of any mismatch in liquidity, Head Office funding is available for the Dubai Branch.

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank by remaining contractual maturity at the
balance sheet date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Total Gross
Liquidity risk carrying nominal Upto3 3-12 1-5
amount outflows Months months years
Liabilities AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2021
Due to other banks - - - - -
Due to customers 3,386,304 3,387,865 3,092,289 295,576 -
il O e 1,201,749 1,201,760 1,201,760 - :
other branches
Other liabilities 41,429 41,429 40,724 145 560
4,629,482 4,631,054 4,334,773 295,721 560
31 December 2020
Due to other banks 5,132 5,132 5,132 - -
Due to customers 2,841,576 2,842,633 2,246,813 595,820 -
Due to Head Office and
other branches 1,012,948 1,012,968 1,012,968 - -
Other liabilities 49,517 49,517 48.414 344 759
3,909,173 3,910,250 3,313,327 596,164 759

The Bank’s derivatives that will be settled on a gross basis include foreign exchange contracts.
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch
Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.6 Liquidity risk (continued)

The table below analyses the Bank’s detivative financial instruments that will be settled on a gross basis
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual

maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Uptol 3-12
month 1-3 months months 1-5 years Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2021
Foreign exchange
contracts
— Outflow 131,100 - - - 131,100
— Inflow 130,821 - - - 130,821
31 December 2020
Foreign exchange
contracts
— Outflow 65,009 - - - 65,009
— Inflow 65,009 - - - 65,009
Off-balance sheet items
No later
than 1 year 1-5 years Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2021
Letter of credit, guarantees and 1,267,156 699,087 1,966,243
acceptances
Undrawn credit commitments 2,559,540 308,615 2,868,155
Total 3,826,696 1,007,702 4,834,398
31 December 2020
Letter of credit, guarantees and 1,856,375 754,667 2,611,042
acceptances
Undrawn credit commitments 2,518,176 63,074 2,581,250
Total 4,374,551 817,741 5,192,292
3.7 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

(a) Definition

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal, or in its absence, the most
advantageous market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-

performance risk.

The Bank has determined that the fair value of its current financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair

value approximates its carrying amount as at the year end.
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

3.7 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
(a) Definition (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability the Bank uses observable market data whenever
available. Fair values are classified within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows:

« Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes
listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges (for example, Dubai Financial Market, Nasdaq
Dubai, Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange) and exchanges traded derivatives like futures (for example:
Nasdaq, S&P 500).

« Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). This level includes the
majority of the OTC derivative contracts, traded loans and issued structured debt. The sources of input
parameters like LIBOR / EIBOR yield curve or counterparty credit risk are Bloomberg and Reuters.

« Level 3 — Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs). This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable
components. This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers
relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value and analyses
them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is categorised. The
fair values are not materially different from their carrying amounts.

At 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000

Financial assets

Cash and balances with the UAE

- 1,212,533 - 1,212,533
Central Bank
Due from other banks - 20,160 2,494,790 2,514,950
Due from Head Office and other _ 30,334 18,165 48,499
branches
Loans and advances - - 1,234,817 1,234,817
Other assets - 3,312 B 3,312
Total - 1,266,339 3,747,772 5,014,111
Financial liabilities
Due to other banks - - - -
Due to customers - 3,386,304 3,386,304
Due to Head Office and other
branches - 1,201,749 - 1,201,749
Other liabilities - 38,887 - 38,887
Total - 4,626,940 - 4,626,940
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3 Financial risk management (continued)

3.7 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(b) Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)
At 31 December 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED'000 AED'000 AED'000 AED'000
Financial assets
Cash and balances with the UAE
Central Bank - 3,287,485 - SAEIES
Due from other banks - 18,000 1,741,107 1,759,107
Due from Head Office and other ) 69,779 40,780 110,559
branches
Loans and advances - - 900,976 900,976
Other assets - 2,221 - 2,221
Total - 3,377,485 2,682,863 6,060,348
Financial liabilities
Due to other banks - 5,132 - 5,132
Due to customers - 2,841,576 - 2,841,576
Due to Head Office and other ) 1,012,048 ) 1,012,048
branches
Other liabilities - 45,751 - 45,751
Total - 3,905,407 - 3,905,407
(c) Financial instruments measured at fair value

The assets measured at fair value as per the hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are

disclosed in the table below:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2021
Financial assets
Investments measured at fair
yalueironshiofher 1,797,492 : 1,797,492
comprehensive income
(FVOCI)
Financial liabilities:
Foreign currency forwards- ) 279 279
net
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000

31 December 2020
Financial liabilities:

Foreign currency forwards-
net
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.8 Capital management
The CBUAE issued Basel HI capital regulations, which came into effect from 1 February 2017 introducing
minimum capital requirements at three levels, namely Common Equity Tier 1 (‘CET1”), Additional Tier 1
(*‘AT1”) and Total Capital.
The minimum capital adequacy requirements as set out by the Central Bank are as follows:
- Minimum common equity tier 1 (CET 1) ratio of 7% of risk weighted assets (RWAs).
- Minimum tier 1 ratio of 8.5% of RWAs.
- Total capital adequacy ratio of 10.5% of RWAs.
The table below summarizes the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Bank as per BASEL

II guidelines and has complied with all of the externally imposed capital requirements which it is subject
to:

2021 2020

AED’000 AED’000
Tier 1 capital
Allocated capital 2,540,214 2,540,214
Legal reserve 144,842 141,956
Accumulated other comprehensive income 168 -
Accumulated losses (524,728) (521,842)
Eligible Tier 1 capital 2,160,496 2,160,328
Deductions:
Deferred tax assets - (18,253)
Total deductions - (18,253)
Tier 1 capital 2,160,496 2,142,075
Tier 2 capital
General provision 37.215 33,680
Total regulatory capital 2,197,711 2,175,755
Risk Weighted Assets
Credit risk 2,977,184 2,694,400
Market risk 1,270 741
Operational risk 250,258 262,548
Total risk weighted assets 3,228,712 2,957,689
Tier 1 capital ratio 66.92% 72.42%
Capital adequacy ratio 68.07% 73.56%
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Barclays Bank PLC - Dubai Branch

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.8 Capital management (continued)

3.8.2  Capital requirement for market risk under standardised approach as at 31 December

Risk weighted assets Capital charge
2021 2020 2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Market risk
Foreign exchange risk 1,270 741 133 78

Capital charge for year ended 31 December 2021 has been calculated at 10.5% (2020: 10.5%).

3.8.3  Gross exposures and credit risk mitigation

Exposures Risk weighted assets
2021 2020 2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
Gross exposure prior to credit risk
mitigation 11,701,926 11,308,841 2,977,184 2,694,400
Less: Exposures covered by eligible
financial collateral (1,322) (3,932) - -
Net exposures after credit risk
mitigation 11,700,604 11,304,909 2,977,184 2,694,400
4 Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
Cash in hand (note 26) o L0
With UAE Central Bank in:
Current account (note 26) 32,751 -
Statutory deposit 150,946 269,697
Overnight deposit facility 1,010,008 .
Certificate of deposits - 3,001,230
1,212,533 3,287,524
Expected credit loss - (39)
1,212,533 3,287,485

The current account balances are transferred to statutory deposit account at the end of the day as part of
overnight sweeping mechanism introduced by UAE Central Bank. The statutory deposit with the UAE
Central bank is not available to finance the day to day operations of the Bank. Cash in hand, current account
and statutory deposit with the UAE Central Bank are non-interest bearing balances.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

5 Due from other banks

Current accounts (note 26)
Bills discounted

Expected credit loss

6 Due from Head Office and other branches

Current accounts (note 26)
Other receivables
Bills discounted

Expected credit loss

6.1.  Due from Head Office and other branches is a related party balance (note 27)

7 Loans and advances

7(a) Loans and advances

Corporate loans

Retail loans

Total loans and advances (note 7(b))
Expected credit loss

Net loans and advances

7(b)  Analysis of loans and advances

Loan to individual retail customers - Mortgages
Loan to corporate entities
Total loans and advances

2021 2020
AED’000 AED?000
20,160 18,000
2,496,451 1,741,710
2,516,611 1,759,710
(1,661) (603)
2,514,950 1,759,107
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
21,841 67,493
8,493 2,286
18,167 40,790
48,501 110,569

2 (10)

48,499 110,559
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
1,701,932 1,700,959
- 6.077
1,701,932 1,707,036
(467,115) (806,060)
1,234,817 900,976
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
. 6,077
1,701,932 1,700,959
1,701,932 1,707,036
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

8 Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

8(a)  Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Quoted debt securities

8(b) Movement in Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

At 1 January

Additions during the year
Change in fair value

At 31 December

9 Other assets

Prepayments
Other receivables

10 Property and equipment

Cost

At | January 2020
Write off

Transfer

At 31 December 2020

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2020

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2020

Net book amount
At 31 December 2020

Cost

At 1 January 2021
Write off

Transfer

At 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2021

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2021

Net book amount
At 31 December 2021

2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
1,797,492 -
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
1,797,119 -
373 -
1,797,492 -
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
2,680 346
3,312 2,221
5,992 2,567
Other Right-of -use
assets assets Total
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
17,265 1,998 19,263
- (234) (234)
17,265 1.764 19,029
(5,495) 421 (5,916)
(2,878) (384) (3,262)
(8,373) (805) (9,178)
8,892 959 9,851
17,265 1,764 19,029
17,265 1,764 19,029
(8,373) (805) (9,178)
(2.877) (349) (3,226)
(11,250) (1,154) (12,404)
6,015 610 6,625
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)

11 Deferred income tax assets

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using an

effective tax rate of 20%.

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

At 1 January

Additions during the year
Utilisation during the year
Written off during the year
At 31 December

Deferred income tax assets are attributable to the following items:

Provision for corporate loan impairment
Provision for suspended interest
Other Accruals and provisions

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax asset to be recovered

2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
18,253 3,390
7,168 15,186
(1,161) (323)
(6,830) -
17,430 18,253
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
2,296 2,591
10,629 11,500
4,505 4,162
17,430 18,253
17,430 18,253

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that realisation of the related tax  benefit is

probable.

12 Due to other banks

Current accounts

13 Due to customers

Current accounts
Call deposits
Term deposits

2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
- 5,132

- 5,132

2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
716,869 644,919
376,017 718,035
2,293,418 1,478,622
3,386,304 2,841,576

At 31 December 2021, term deposits amounting to AED 0.96 million (2020: AED 3.10 million) were held
as cash collateral for loans and advances granted to and commitments made on behalf of customers.
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14 Due to Head Office and other branches

2021 2020

AED’000 AED’000

Term deposits 951,318 495,862
Current accounts 149,800 420,050
Call accounts 31,263 37,655
Others 69,368 59,381
1,201,749 1,012,948

14.1. Due from Head Office and other branches is a related party balance (note 27)

15 Other liabilities

2021 2020

AED’000 AED’000

Bills payable 28,308 28,952
Deferred income 1,250 2,403
Provision for End of service benefits (note 15(a)) 1,292 1,363
Expected credit loss on unfunded exposures (note 3.2.3) 5,653 9,309
Others 4,926 7,490
41,429 49,517

Others include a provision of AED 1.15 million (2020: AED 3.07 million) representing management’s
estimate of a claim related to the exit of the retail banking business.

(a) Provision for end of service benefits
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
Balance brought forward 1,363 1,231
Add: Charge during the year 179 192
Less: Payments during the year (250) (60)
Balance carried forward 1,292 1,363
(b) Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 19, management has carried out an exercise to assess the present
value of its obligations at 31 December 2021, using the projected unit credit method, in respect of
employees’ end of service benefits payable under the UAE Labour Law. Under this method, an assessment
has been made of an employees’ expected service life with the Bank and the expected basic salary at the
date of leaving the service. Management has assumed average increment/promotion costs to be 2.45 % in
2021 (2020: 3.19 %). The expected liability at the date of leaving the service has been discounted to its net
present value using a discount rate of 1.46 % (2020: 0.93 %).

16 Allocated capital

In accordance with the UAE Union Law Number (10) of 1980, as amended, allocated capital represents the
amount of an interest free deposit provided by the Head Office.
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17 Reserves
(a) Legal reserve

In accordance with Article 82 of the UAE Union Law Number (10) of 1980, as amended, 10% of the profit
for the year is required to be transferred to a legal reserve which is non-distributable. Allocations to this
reserve are required to be made until such time as the balance in this reserve equals 50% of the allocated
capital. This reserve is not available for distribution.

(b) General reserve

The Bank has created a special reserve titled as ‘General reserve’ in lieu of the general provision required
to be created in accordance with the “Circular No 28/2010”’ issued by the UAE Central Bank. The Bank
assesses the general provision requirement annually at each balance sheet date. Based on this assessment,
general reserve of AED 30.82 million was required as at 31 December 2021 (2020: AED 19.29 million)
and thus an amount of AED 11,53 million was charged to general reserve under statement of movements
in Head Office account and reserves during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: a release of AED
8.83 million was recorded in general reserve).

Impairment reserve under the Central Bank of UAE (CBUAE) guidance

The CBUAE has issued its IFRS 9 guidance addressing various implementation challenges and practical
implications for Banks adopting IFRS 9 in the UAE ("guidance").

Pursuant to clause 6.4 of the guidance, the reconciliation between general and specific provision under
Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE and IFRS 9 is as follows:

2021 2020
AED'000 AED'000
Allowances for impairment losses: General

General provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 47,990 41,654
Less: Stage 1 and Stage 2 provisions under IFRS 9 17,201 22,357
General provision transferred to the impairment reserve* 30,789 19,297

Allowances for impairment losses: Specific
Specific provisions under Circular 28/2010 of CBUAE 457,207 793,664
Less: Stage 3 provisions under IFRS 9 457,207 793,664

Specific provision transferred to the impairment reserve* - -

Total provision transferred to the impairment reserve 30,789 19,297

*In the case where provisions under IFRS 9 exceed provisions under CBUAE, no amount shall be
transferred to the impairment reserve.
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18 Contingencies and commitments
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
Letters of credit 688,843 1,284,558
Guarantees and acceptances 1,277,400 1,326,484
Undrawn credit commitments 2,868,155 2,581,250
4,834,398 5,192,292

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make
payments in the event that a customer cannot meet his obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk
as loans and advances. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by
the Bank on behalf of a customer’s authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated
amount under specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to
which they relate and therefore have less risk. Cash requirements under guarantees and standby letters of
credit are considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Bank does not generally expect
the third party to draw funds under the agreement.

19 Forward foreign exchange contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts (FECs) comprise commitments to purchase and sell foreign and
domestic currencies on behalf of customers and in respect of the Bank’s proprietary activities and
undelivered spot transactions. The Bank has entered into the following forward exchange transactions
which have been marked to market:

Contractual/ notional

amount Assets Liabilities
AED’000 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2021 130,821 - 278
31 December 2020 65,009 - .
20 Interest income
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
Loans and advances 24,020 34,913
Bills discounted 23,910 22,112
Certificate of deposits 4,016 18,951
Deposits with Head Office (note 27) 154 541
Available-for-sale financial instruments 74 -
52,174 76,517
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21 Interest expense

Deposits from Head Office (note 27)
Due to customers

22 Fee and commission income

Documentary credits and guarantees
Loan fees
Other commission

23 Operating expenses

Staff costs (note 23 (a))
Postage and communication
Marketing and advertising
Depreciation (note 10)

Expenses incurred by related parties on behalf of the Branch

(note 27)

Expenses incurred by the Branch on behalf of related parties

(note 27)
Salaries paid to outsourced staff
Other

23(a)  Staff costs

Salaries and allowances
Other staff costs

2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
488 384
5,629 19,518
6,117 19,902
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
8,950 16,202
10,832 6,354
11,033 9,012
30,815 31,568
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
4,886 5,221
2,179 1,908
202 96
3,226 3,262
61,218 63,090
(3,808) (4,542)
4,470 7,003
3,757 8,029
76,130 84,067
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
2,353 2,313
2,533 2,908
4,886 5,221
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24 Income tax

2021 2020

AED’000 AED’000

Current taxes on income during the reporting period - -

Adjustment in respect of prior year 7,345 11,543

Total current tax expense 7,345 11,543
Deferred tax credit 823 (14,864)
Income tax expense 8,168 3,321)

The income tax rate applicable to the Bank’s 2021 income is 20% (2020: 20%).

Further information about deferred income tax is presented in note 10. The tax on the Bank’s profit before
tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the basic tax rate of the Bank as follows:

2021 2020

AED’000 AED’000
Profit / (Loss) before taxation 37,026 (694,173)
Tax calculated at the base tax rate of the Bank 7,405 (138,835)
Effect of:
Release of Interest in suspense disallowed in prior years for
which no deferred tax was recognised (1,577) (298)
Release of retail specific provision disallowed in prior years
for which no deferred tax was recognised (849) -
Release of Corporate specific provision disallowed in prior
years for which no deferred tax was recognised (58,238) (2,839)
InfoFort provision disallowed in prior years for which no
deferred tax was recognised - (1,005)
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax is recognised 56,023 132,988
Utilisation of deferred tax assets of prior years (830) -
Other provisions disallowed in prior years for which no
deferred tax was recognised - (714)
Other Provisions for which deferred tax is recognised during
the year (1,019) (4,161)
Prior year adjustments 7,345 11,543
Other temporary differences (92) -
Income tax charge / (credit) 8,168 (3,321)

Effective tax rate -

25 Leases

The Bank leases branch premises for a period of 5 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date.

Payments are renegotiated every five years to reflect market rentals.

The Bank also leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. The leases are short-term
and/or leases of low-value items. The Bank has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease

liabilities for these leases.
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25 Leases (continued)
i Lease liability
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
As at 1 January 1,218 1,732
Adjustment for rent free period - (234)
Interest expense 34 48
Cash payments (459) (328)
As at 31 December 793 1,218

The lease liability is included in Other liabilities as at 31 December. Refer note 3.6 for maturity analysis of
other liabilities as at 31 December.

il Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Leases under IFRS 16 2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
Interest on lease liabilities 34 48
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, excluding short- 2
term leases of low-value assets 26
iii. Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
Total cash outflow for leases 459 328
26 Cash and cash equivalents for statement of cash flow
2021 2020
AED’000 AED’000
Cash and balances with the UAE Central Bank
(note 4)
Cash in hand 18,828 16,597
Current account with UAE Central bank 32,751 -
Due from other banks (note 5)
Current accounts 20,160 18,000
Due from Head Office and other branches (note 6)
Current accounts 21,841 67,493
93,580 102,090
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27 Related party transactions

Related parties comprise the Head Office, subsidiaries and branches of the Head Office and key

management personnel.

During the year, the Branch entered into transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of business
at mutually agreed terms and conditions. In addition to the balances noted in the assets and liabilities of the
Bank at the year end, the following transactions were carried out on normal commercial terms and

conditions.
2021

AED’000
Transactions during the year:
Interest income (note 20) 154
Interest expense (note 21) 488
Operating expenses include:
Expenses incurred by related parties on behalf of the Branch (note
23) 61,218
Expenses incurred by the Branch on behalf of related parties (note
23) (3,808)
Due from Head Office and other branches (note 6) 48,499
Due to Head Office and other branches (note 14) 1,201,749

2020
AED’000

541
384
63,090
(4,542)

110,559
1,012,948

Key management personnel include employees of other entities within the Barclays Group with
management responsibilities for the Branch. Remuneration of such employees are booked in the respective

employing entity of the Barclays Group.
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